

Chapter 3 – The Leader / Cabinet Executive

Part 1 – The Leader / Cabinet Executive

Article 7 – The Leader / Cabinet Executive

1. Role

1.1 The Council has decided to adopt the Leader and Cabinet form of executive. Chapter 3 sets the rules for how the Leader and Cabinet will operate. These include arrangements for meetings, individual decision-making, and the scheme of delegation and sub-delegation of functions. The Cabinet (meaning the Leader and such other Members of the Council as the Leader may appoint) will carry out all of the Authority's functions which are not the responsibility of any other part of the Authority, whether by law or under the Constitution. The Leader may take decisions on every matter that is not assigned to anyone else by this constitution. The Leader may however, make arrangements to delegate some matters to the Cabinet, a Cabinet Committee, individual Cabinet members, or to employees.

2. Form and composition

2.1 The Cabinet will consist of the Leader together with such other number of Councillors as the Leader may determine (being not more than 9) appointed by the Leader. Such appointment as a Cabinet Member shall be effected by notice in writing from the Leader delivered to the Chief Executive. Only Councillors may be appointed to the Cabinet. Neither the Mayor nor Deputy Mayor of the Council may be appointed to the Cabinet. Cabinet members may not be members of an Overview and Scrutiny Committee. The Leader must appoint one Member of the Cabinet to be his/her deputy.

3. Leader

3.1 The Leader will be a Councillor elected for a term of 4 years (subject to (a) – (c) below) to the position of Leader by the Council and he or she shall not be the Mayor or Deputy Mayor or a member of a Scrutiny Committee:

- (a) He/she resigns from the office; or
- (b) He/she is no longer a Councillor; except where the Leader fails to be returned as a Councillor following an election. Unless the Leader resigns, is disqualified or is otherwise removed from office he/she shall continue as Leader until the day of the Annual Meeting; or until
- (c) He/she is removed from office by a resolution of Council on a notice of motion signed by fifteen Members and approved, without amendment, by the Council. Procedure Rule 15 (Chapter 2, Part 2) relating to Notice of Motion, applied to a notice of motion under this Rule.

4. Other Executive / Cabinet Members

4.1 Cabinet members appointed by the Leader shall hold office until:

- (a) They resign from office
- (b) They are no longer Councillors; or
- (c) They are removed from office by the Leader, by notification of removal made in writing by the Leader to the Chief Executive and to the Cabinet member concerned. The removal will take effect immediately after receipt of the notice by the Chief Executive.

5. Deputy Leader

- 5.1 The Leader shall appoint a Cabinet Member to be Deputy Leader, by notifying the Chief Executive in writing of such appointment.
- 5.2 The Leader shall delegate to the Deputy Leader power to exercise any Executive Function which is exercisable by the Leader, to be exercised by the Deputy Leader when the Leader is unable to act by reason of absence or conflict of interest.
- 5.3 The Deputy Leader, unless he/she resigns as Deputy Leader, is removed by the Leader, is suspended following a standards investigation, or ceases to be a Member of the Council, will hold office until the end of term of office of the Leader.
- 5.4 If for any reason the Leader is unable to act or the office of the Leader is vacant the Deputy Leader must act in his place.
- 5.5 If for any reason the Leader is unable to act, or the office of the Leader is vacant and the Deputy Leader is unable to act, or the office of the Deputy Leader is vacant, the Cabinet must act in the Leader's place or must arrange for a member of the Cabinet to act in his place.

6. Vacancies in the Executive / Cabinet

- 6.1 If at any time a person shall, by virtue of this Article, cease to be a Member of the Cabinet, the responsibilities of that Member shall be carried out by the Leader / Cabinet collectively in so far as permitted by law until such time as the Leader shall have appointed a replacement or, where appropriate, re-appointed the Member concerned.
- 6.2 In the event of there being no Leader, Deputy Leader or Cabinet members, executive functions shall in the interim be carried out by the Chief Executive in so far as is permitted by law.

7. Removal from office

- 7.1 The Leader may be removed from office by resolution of the Council, on a notice of motion signed by fifteen Members and approved, without amendment, by the Council. Procedure Rule 15 (Chapter 2, Part 2) relating to Notice of Motion, will be applied to a notice of motion under this Rule. If the Council passes such a resolution, a new Leader is to be elected:
 - (a) At the meeting at which the Leader is removed from office; or
 - (b) At a subsequent meeting

7.2 In the event that the Leader no longer holds office as described above, the Deputy Leader will carry out the role and duties of the Leader until the new Leader is elected by the Council.

7.3 Cabinet Members may be removed from office and a new Member appointed, either individually or collectively upon the decision of the Leader. Where 50% or more of the Membership of the Cabinet is to be changed, the Leader shall take a report to Full Council.

7.4 The Leader will notify the Chief Executive (the Proper Officer) and the Cabinet Member affected in writing as soon as it is practicable following the implementation of the decision.

8. Proceedings of the Executive / Cabinet

8.1 Proceedings of the Cabinet shall take place in accordance with the Leader / Cabinet Procedure Rules set out in this Chapter.

9. Responsibility and delegation of functions of the Leader / Cabinet

9.1 The Leader may discharge any of the functions of the Leader / Cabinet.

9.2 The Leader may delegate any of the functions of the Leader to the Cabinet, to a Committee of the Cabinet, to an individual Cabinet Member or to an Officer.

9.3 A Cabinet Committee may delegate the discharge of any of its functions to an individual Cabinet Member or to an Officer.

9.4 An individual Cabinet Member may delegate the discharge of any of his/her functions to an Officer.

9.5 Leader / Cabinet functions may also be delegated to an Area Committee, to a Joint Committee with one or more other authorities, or to another authority.

9.6 The Leader or Council may (subject to any regulations made under section 236 of the Local Government and Public Involvement in Health Act 2007) arrange for any Councillor to discharge any of their functions within his/her own ward. Such delegation has not been made.

9.7 Where such delegations have been made, the person who made the delegation or the Council, as the case may be, or any other person or Committee which is permitted by or under an enactment to discharge the function, may still exercise that function, notwithstanding the delegation.

9.8 The delegations made by the Leader are set out in this Chapter.

Part 2 – Leader / Cabinet Procedure Rules

1. Discharge of Executive Functions

1.1 Executive functions may be discharged by:

- (a) The Leader
- (b) The Cabinet as a body
- (c) A Committee of the Cabinet
- (d) An individual Member of the Cabinet
- (e) An Officer
- (f) Joint arrangements, partnership boards and other such bodies
- (g) Another local authority
- (h) Area Committees

Delegation by the Leader / Cabinet portfolios

1.2 At the Annual Meeting of the Council, the Leader once elected will present to the Council a statement comprising:

- (a) the names of the Members whom he/she has appointed as Members of the Cabinet
- (b) the name of the Member whom he/she has appointed as Deputy Leader
- (c) the portfolios or areas of responsibility of each Cabinet Member

Leader / Cabinet Scheme of Delegations

1.3 As soon as possible after the Annual Meeting of Council, the Leader shall deliver to the Chief Executive a Scheme of Executive Delegations, which shall set out:

- (a) the Portfolios or areas of responsibility of the respective Cabinet Members, including the Leader
- (b) those powers which have been reserved for decision of the Cabinet
- (c) the composition and terms of reference, including any delegated powers, of any Cabinet Committee
- (d) those powers which have been delegated to Cabinet Members, either generically or to individual Cabinet Members, including any restrictions on such powers

- (e) the names of any Members who have been appointed by the Leader / Cabinet to any Joint Committees, and those powers which have been delegated to Area Committees and/or Joint Committees
 - (f) those powers which have been delegated to Officers
- 1.4 Upon receipt of this Scheme or Delegations, the Chief Executive shall cause this Scheme of Delegations to be included in the Constitution and shall provide a copy thereof to each Member.
- 1.5 For the avoidance of doubt the Council has adopted the strong leader model and decisions which fall during recess or are required urgently may be made by the Leader subject to compliance with the Access to Information Rules. The Leader has presently delegated functions to Portfolio Holders to the extent necessary to permit collective decision-making by Cabinet. In the event of there being no Leader, Deputy Leader or Cabinet Members, executive functions shall in the interim be carried out by the Chief Executive subject to the Access to Information Rules.
- 1.6 Nothing above in Part 1 or Part 2 shall fetter or restrict the right of the Leader subject to compliance with the notification requirements in rules 2.1, 7.2 and 7.3 of Article 7 of Part 1 Chapter 3 of this constitution to:
- (a) Increase or decrease the size of the Cabinet or to appoint or dismiss members of the Cabinet (subject to a statutory maximum of 9 not including the Leader).
 - (b) To reorganise the portfolios.
 - (c) To reorganise or re-allocate the portfolio theme.
 - (d) To delegate executive functions or withdraw any delegation.
 - (e) To exercise all the executive rights contained in Article 7 of Chapter 3 of this constitution or the Leader / Cabinet Rules.
 - (f) To exercise any other executive rights set out in the constitution.

Sub-delegation of Executive Functions

- 1.7 Where the Leader, Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet or an individual Member of the Cabinet is responsible for an Executive function, they may delegate further to joint bodies (in so far as this is permitted by law) or to an Officer.
- 1.8 Unless the Leader / Cabinet directs otherwise, a Committee of the Cabinet or a single Member of the Cabinet to whom functions have been delegated may delegate further to an Officer.
- 1.9 Where Executive functions have been delegated, that does not prevent the discharge of delegated functions by the person or body who delegated them; or the Leader / Cabinet from reviewing decisions made in the discharge of those functions in accordance with the provisions of this Chapter.

- 1.10 All Executive functions not expressed to be within the remit of the Leader / Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet or a single Member of the Cabinet is deemed to be delegated to the Chief Executive.
- 1.11 The Leader / Cabinet may appoint such further Committees during the year as they think fit, notifying the Chief Executive as soon as possible.

2. Leader / Cabinet Meetings

Dates, time and place

- 2.1 Ordinary meetings of the Leader / Cabinet will take place in accordance with a programme decided by the Leader. In order to enable the Leader / Cabinet properly to discharge its functions, particularly in relation to service performance and financial monitoring, the Leader / Cabinet shall meet not less than ten times a year.
- 2.2 Meetings of the Leader / Cabinet shall take place at 7pm in the Council Offices at Grays unless the Leader otherwise determines.
- 2.3 The Leader may direct the Chief Executive to call a meeting of the Leader / Cabinet at any time. The summons to that meeting shall set out the business to be considered
- 2.4 Where the Chief Executive, the Chief Finance Officer or the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that a meeting of the Leader / Cabinet needs to be called to consider a matter that requires a decision for reasons related to the effective discharge of the authority's functions, finance, legality or probity, they may call a meeting of the Leader / Cabinet.
- 2.5 Subject to compliance with Rule 2.1 above the Leader may cancel any meeting of the Leader / Cabinet, other than one convened under Rule 2.4 above.

Summoning of Meetings

- 2.6 Meetings of the Leader / Cabinet shall be summoned by the issue of a summons and agenda by the Chief Executive, which agenda shall be accompanied by such reports as are available at the time of issue of the summons and the minutes of the previous meeting.
- 2.7 The Summons and agenda shall be issued to the Leader / all Members of the Cabinet and be available for public inspection at least 5 clear working days in advance of the meeting, except where, for exceptional reason, the meeting is summoned on less than 5 clear working days' notice.

Public or private meetings of the Leader / Cabinet

- 2.8 All Leader / Cabinet meetings will be held in public except:
- (a) when the Leader / Cabinet has resolved to exclude the press and public from all or part of a meeting in accordance with the Access to Information Rules
 - (b) when the business of the Leader / Cabinet comprises receiving a briefing on a matter and no executive decision is to be taken on the matter within the next 28 days, or

- (c) in circumstances to which Rules 2.38 to 2.40 refer

Order of Business

- 2.9 The order of business for each meeting of Leader / Cabinet shall be set out in the agenda for that meeting and shall be as follows:
- (a) Apologies for absence from Members
 - (b) Declarations of interest by Members and Officers
 - (c) Receive for information the minutes of the previous meeting of Leader / Cabinet and of Cabinet Committees, and decision statements of decisions by individual Cabinet Members
 - (d) Statements by the Leader
 - (e) To receive petitions
 - (f) The Leader and Cabinet Members to respond to questions from Members
 - (g) Matters referred to the Leader / Cabinet for re-consideration by an Overview and Scrutiny Committee
 - (h) Matters referred to the Leader / Cabinet for consideration by Council, a Committee or Sub-Committee of the Council, and Area Committee or Joint Committee
 - (i) Consideration of business set out in the agenda for the meeting, comprising:
 - Reports from the Leader
 - Reports from Cabinet Committees
 - Reports from Cabinet Members
 - Reports from Statutory Chief Officer/Directors
 - Other reports from Officers
 - (j) To receive reports from Cabinet Members and Officers attending as the authority's representatives on outside bodies about the business of joint arrangements, boards and partnership bodies and external organisations
 - (k) Urgent items of business with the consent of the Leader
 - (l) Briefing on policy, Budget and other issues prior to making decisions on them
- 2.10 Any of the persons listed at Rule 2.9 (i) may require the Chief Executive to place an item of business on the agenda for the next convenient meeting of the Leader / Cabinet. Other Officers may request the Chief Executive to place an item of business on the agenda for the next convenient meeting of Cabinet.

- 2.11 No item of business shall be considered under agenda items 2.9 (g) to (k) except upon a written report from the person placing the item on the agenda or an Officer.
- 2.12 The order of business may be varied by the Leader.

Reports to Leader / Cabinet, Cabinet Committees and Individual Cabinet Members

- 2.13 In accordance with these Rules, any written report shall set out:
- (a) who the decision-taker will be
 - (b) the matter to be determined
 - (c) the electoral wards within the authority's area which are particularly affected by the matter
 - (d) whether the report contains confidential or exempt information, or the consideration thereof by the decision-taker is likely to involve the disclosure of confidential or exempt information, and therefore whether the report should be disclosed to press and public, or the decision-taker should exclude press and public before considering the matter
 - (e) a summary of the matter setting out all the material facts upon which the decision will be based
 - (f) any legislative constraints on the decision
 - (g) any relevant provisions from the Policy Framework
 - (h) any relevant policies of partner organisations
 - (i) any relevant national or regional policy
 - (j) the main options available to the decision-taker
 - (k) the staffing and financial implications of any options to be considered
 - (l) any consultations undertaken and a summary of the responses received
 - (m) the implications of the proposed decision on the authority and the authority's services
 - (n) whether that proposed decision is contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the approved Budget
 - (o) a recommendation setting out the proposed decision and the reasons for that recommendation
 - (p) the date, time and place where the decision is to be taken
 - (q) a list of background papers which have informed the writing of the report and their location on the Council's website

- 2.14 A report submitted by or on behalf of Leader / Cabinet Member shall clearly distinguish (where relevant) between the Officer advice upon which the report is based and the policy and political considerations upon which the Leader / Cabinet Member proposes that the decision be based.

Quorum

- 2.15 The quorum for a meeting of the Leader will consist of the Leader, the quorum for a meeting of Cabinet shall be one third of the members currently appointed to Cabinet by the Leader including either the Leader or Deputy Leader. If the Leader / Cabinet appoints a Cabinet Committee, it shall at the same time determine the quorum of that Committee.

Completion of Business

- 2.16 If the business of the meeting has not been concluded by two and a half hours after its start, the person presiding must interrupt the meeting. The person presiding will then and without debate take a vote as to whether to continue with the meeting. Unless a majority of Members vote to continue with the meeting, the meeting shall be adjourned and any remaining business will be considered at the next scheduled Cabinet meeting.

Person presiding

- 2.17 The Leader shall preside at meetings of the Leader / Cabinet. Where the Leader is absent or otherwise unable to act in respect of any meeting or part of a meeting, the Deputy Leader shall preside and shall exercise all the powers of the Leader under these Rules. Executive decisions will be taken at a meeting convened in accordance with the Access to Information Rules.

Voting

- 2.18 Other than set out in Rule 2.19 below, any matter to be determined by Leader / Cabinet shall be determined by a vote of the majority of Cabinet Members present and voting at the meeting. In the event of an equality of votes, the Leader shall have a second or casting vote.
- 2.19 The Local Authorities (Standing Orders) (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2014 require that immediately after any vote relating to the budget or council tax is taken at a budget decision meeting of an authority there must be recorded in the minutes of the proceedings of that meeting the names of the persons who cast a vote for the decision or against the decision or who abstained from voting. A recorded vote will therefore be taken on any budget or council tax decision and will follow the procedure set out below.
- (a) The Leader shall put the motion and the Chief Executive shall call out the names of Members and record their votes or abstentions
 - (b) The Leader shall declare the result of the vote and the vote of each Member shall be recorded in the minutes
- 2.20 Any Member of the Leader / Cabinet may request that the votes of each Member of Cabinet, or that their individual vote, be recorded in the minutes thereof.

Rights of Audience

- 2.21 Subject as below, the following persons shall have a right of audience at Leader / Cabinet Meetings:
- (a) All Members of the Cabinet
 - (b) Statutory Chief Officer/Directors
 - (c) Other Officers in presenting reports
 - (d) Other Members
 - (e) Members of the public in presenting petitions
- 2.22 The rights of audience set out under Rule 2.21 shall not apply where the Leader / Cabinet has resolved to exclude press and public from the relevant meeting or part of the meeting.
- 2.23 The Leader shall be responsible for the effective conduct of the business of Leader / Cabinet and shall, at his/her discretion, limit or exclude the time available for any persons or groups of persons to speak on any item of business.

Petitions

- 2.24 A petition organiser may request the opportunity to present a petition to Leader / Cabinet. A petition must:
- (a) contain at least 10 signatures of registered local government electors for the administrative area of Thurrock
 - (b) identify a petition organiser
 - (c) relate to a matter for which the Leader / Cabinet has responsibility and which affects the authority or its area
 - (d) not, in the opinion of the Monitoring Officer, be trivial, defamatory, offensive, be substantially the same as a petition which has been considered under these Rules within the previous 12 months, name or clearly identify an employee of the authority, or involve the disclosure of confidential or exempt information
- 2.25 A petition may only be presented to Leader / Cabinet when it has been submitted to the Monitoring Officer at least 10 working days before an ordinary meeting of Leader / Cabinet or an extraordinary meeting of the Leader / Cabinet at which the subject matter of the petition is to be considered.
- 2.26 Petitions may be presented to the Leader / Cabinet in accordance with the authority's Petition Scheme by the petition organiser, by another signatory of the petition authorised by the petition organiser or by a Member on behalf of the petition organiser.
- 2.27 Where the Monitoring Officer is of the opinion that the subject matter of the petition relates to a matter which is or will shortly be the subject of statutory or non-statutory consultation by the authority or is to be reported to a forthcoming meeting of the Leader / Cabinet, he/she may elect not to report the petition to Leader / Cabinet directly but to include the

petition in the responses to that consultation for consideration in the ordinary determination of that matter.

- 2.28 Any Member or member of the public presenting a petition shall be entitled to address the Leader / Cabinet on the matter which is the subject of the petition for up to two minutes. Unless the petition relates to a matter which is to be determined by Leader / Cabinet, it shall then be referred to the relevant Cabinet Committee, Cabinet Member or Officer, as appropriate, without debate.
- 2.29 Where a petition is referred to a Cabinet Member or a Committee, the Monitoring Officer shall advise the petition organiser accordingly. The petition shall be considered by the Cabinet Committee, Cabinet Member or Committee at their next convenient meeting or occasion, and the relevant Portfolio Holder shall as soon as possible after such consideration notify the petition organiser in writing of what action the authority has taken or is taking on the petition.

Members' Questions

- 2.30 Any Member may submit a maximum of two questions for the next ordinary meeting of Leader / Cabinet addressed to the Leader or a Member of the Cabinet, by delivering them in writing to the Monitoring Officer, to be received by Democratic Services by midday two working days prior to a meeting of the Leader / Cabinet (for example, as the Cabinet usually meets on a Wednesday, the deadline for receipt of questions will be midday on the Monday before the day of the meeting). The question must relate to an item on the agenda. A question must relate to a single proposition and may not contain more than one part.
- 2.31 The Monitoring Officer shall copy the question to the person to whom it is addressed and place it on the agenda for the next meeting of Leader / Cabinet unless, in his/her opinion:
- (a) the request does not comply with the requirements of Rule 2.30
 - (b) the question is defamatory of an individual, offensive, discloses confidential or exempt information, or otherwise infringes the proper conduct of local government; or
 - (c) the question is substantially the same as a question which has been previously been received and answered within the past twelve months, and there has been no significant and relevant change of circumstances since the previous question was answered.
- 2.32 The Monitoring Officer shall place the questions on the agenda in the order that they have been received. Where the Monitoring Officer considers that the question or the answer is likely to disclose confidential or exempt information, he/she shall place the question on the exempt part of the agenda.
- 2.33 The relevant Cabinet Member shall provide a verbal answer to the question (which may include a promise to provide a more detailed answer in writing). Where the Member who submitted the question is not present, the relevant Cabinet Member may provide a written response as an alternative to a verbal response.

- 2.34 Where the Member who submitted the question is present, they may ask one supplementary question arising directly out of the initial question or answer, without notice, and the person who answered the initial question shall respond to the supplementary question.
- 2.35 The person who submitted the original question may request clarification of any answer which they have received.
- 2.36 The time limit for each question under this Rule at any meeting (including supplementary question and response, and any clarification) shall be 5 minutes.

Disturbance at meetings by Members

- 2.37 If at any meeting any Member of the Leader / Cabinet, in the opinion of the Leader commits an act of misconduct by persistently disregarding a ruling or behaving improperly or offensively or unreasonably obstructing the business of the Leader / Cabinet, the Leader may move that the Member named be not further heard.
- 2.38 If a Member so named continues the act of misconduct after a motion under the foregoing paragraph has been carried, the Leader shall either:
- (a) move 'that the Member(s) named do leave the meeting', in which case that motion shall be put and determined without seconding or discussion; or
 - (b) adjourn the meeting for such period as the Leader may deem expedient

Disturbance by Public (including Members who are not Cabinet Members)

- 2.39 The Leader shall warn any member of the public who interrupts the proceedings that they may be excluded from the meeting if the interruption continues.
- 2.40 If that person continues the interruption, the Leader may order the removal of that person from the meeting.

General disturbance

- 2.41 In the event of a general disturbance, the Leader may adjourn the meeting for such period or to seek other venue as deemed expedient.

Admission to and reporting of meetings

- 2.42 The Openness of Local Government Bodies Regulations 2014, allow any person to attend and report on meetings, or those parts of meetings, that are open to the public using any communication methods, including the internet, to publish, post or otherwise share the results of their reporting activities. "Reporting" is defined in the Regulations as:
- (a) Filming, photographing or making an audio recording of proceedings at a meeting
 - (b) Using any other means for enabling persons not present to see or hear proceedings at a meeting as it takes place or later

- (c) Reporting or providing commentary on proceedings at a meeting, orally or in writing, so that the report or commentary is available as the meeting takes place or later to persons not present

2.43 If, at any time during the meeting, the Chair feels that filming, recording, reporting or photography is disrupting proceedings, the provisions of Rules 2.39, 2.40 and 2.41 will apply.

2.44 In any instance where the press and public have been excluded from the meeting in accordance with the provisions set out in Chapter 8 of this Constitution, the Council will not allow reporting on the meeting using methods which:

- (a) can be used without that person's presence at the meeting
- (b) enable persons not present at the meeting to see or hear the proceedings at the meeting as it takes place or later

Minutes

2.45 As soon as practicable after the meeting, the Chief Executive shall produce a minute or record of the proceedings of the Leader / Cabinet, which shall include:

- (a) The names of the Members present at the meeting
- (b) Any declarations of interest by Members and Officers and, in respect of any declared conflict of interest, a note of dispensation granted by the Head of Paid Service
- (c) A statement as to whether any decision was a "Key Decision"
- (d) Confirmation as to whether any proposed Key Decision had been published in the Forward Plan or notified to the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or made with the consent of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee in advance of the meeting
- (e) Any options which were considered and rejected at the meeting
- (f) A record of all motions, including amendments, which were put to the meeting
- (g) A record of all decisions taken at the meeting, including the reasons for the decisions taken
- (h) A statement of whether the Leader / Cabinet has determined that the implementation of any decision is urgent, and the reasons for such urgency

2.46 That record shall be signed by the Leader as a correct record as soon as practicable after the meeting, and shall be reported to the next meeting of Leader / Cabinet for information only.

3. Meetings of Cabinet Committees

Application of Leader / Cabinet Procedure Rules

- 3.1 The Rules set out in this part of the Constitution shall apply equally to meetings of Cabinet Committees, save that:
- (a) references to Leader / Cabinet shall be taken as references to the Cabinet Committee
 - (b) References to the Leader shall be taken as references to the Chair of the Committee (save where the context otherwise requires)
 - (c) The order of business for the Committee shall exclude items in Rule 2.9 (e), (f) and (g)

4. Decisions by Individual Cabinet Members

Application of Leader / Cabinet Procedure Rules

- 4.1 The Cabinet Procedure Rules shall apply to decisions of individual Cabinet Members where this option is adopted subject to the following exceptions:
- (a) Except in cases of genuine urgency, individual Cabinet Members shall take decisions only at a date, time and place set out in the summons for a meeting between the Cabinet Member and the Chief Executive, at which meeting the Chief Executive can record the decisions of the Cabinet Member
 - (b) References to the meeting shall be taken as references to that meeting between the Cabinet Member and the Chief Executive
 - (c) In cases of genuine urgency, the Cabinet Member shall seek as far as practicable to consult appropriate Officers before taking the decision, and shall notify the Chief Executive of the decision as soon as possible after taking the decision, providing the Chief Executive with:
 - The date, time and place at which the decision was taken
 - The names of the Members present when the decision was taken
 - Any personal interest which the Cabinet Member had in the decision
 - Any declarations of interest by Members who were present when the decision was taken

Note: a Cabinet Member with a disclosable pecuniary interest should not be present when a Cabinet Member takes a decision except where the Member has been granted a dispensation to speak and or vote in accordance with the Code of Conduct for Members

 - A statement of any Members or Officers whom the Cabinet Member consulted before taking the decision

- A statement as to whether any decision was a "Key Decision"
- Confirmation as to whether any proposed Key Decision had been published in the Forward Plan or notified to the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee, or made with the consent of the Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee in advance of the meeting
- A copy of any documents which the Cabinet Member relied upon in coming to the decision
- Any options which were considered and rejected at the meeting
- A statement of all decisions taken by the Cabinet Member
- A statement of whether the Cabinet Member has determined that the implementation of any decision is urgent, and the reasons for such urgency

4.2 That record shall be signed by the Chief Executive or by the Cabinet Member as a correct record as soon as practicable after the meeting, and shall be reported to the next meeting of Cabinet for information only.

5. Implementing Executive Decisions

5.1 In order to allow for Call-In, no key decision shall be implemented until 5 working days after the decision has been published, subject to Rule 5.3 below. The Leader's decisions as to the form and composition of Cabinet and the appointment of a Deputy Leader are at his or her discretion and cannot be called in under the Scrutiny Rules.

5.2 Where a request for a Call-In is received within 5 working days of the decision being published, the decision shall not be implemented until the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee has resolved not to call the decision in or the Decision-taker has reconsidered the decision in the light of any recommendation from the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

5.3 This deferment of implementation shall not apply where the decision-taker resolves that the implementation of the decision is urgent, in that delaying such implementation would give rise to an unacceptable risk of damage to the authority or its area or inhabitants, and such reason for urgency is recorded in the minutes of the decision.

6. Conflicts of Interest

6.1 If the exercise of an Executive function has been delegated to an individual Cabinet Member or an Officer, and should that person have a disclosable pecuniary interest in the decision on the matter, then the function may be exercised in the first instance by the person or body by whom the delegation was made, or by such other Cabinet Member as may be appointed for this purpose by the Leader.

6.2 If the Leader and every Member of the Cabinet has a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter as defined in the Council's Code of Conduct for Members, a decision in relation to that matter will be taken by the Chief Executive.

Part 3 – Budget and Policy Framework Procedure Rules

1. The Framework for Executive Decisions

- 1.1 The Council will be responsible for the adoption of the Budget and of the Policy Framework as set out in Article 4 (The Council). Once the framework is in place, it will be the responsibility of the Leader / Cabinet to implement it.

2. Process for Developing the Policy Framework

- 2.1 The Council shall from time-to-time review which plans and strategies shall comprise the Policy Framework, and may determine that:
- (a) it is minded to remove a plan or strategy from the Policy Framework
 - (b) an existing plan or strategy which forms part of the Policy Framework shall be reviewed
 - (c) an additional plan or strategy shall be included in the Policy Framework
- 2.2 In the case of Rule 2.1 (a) above, unless such resolution arises from a recommendation from the Leader / Cabinet, the Council shall consult the Leader / Cabinet before taking a decision whether to remove the plan or strategy from the Policy Framework.
- 2.3 In the case of Rule 2.1(b) and (c) above, the Council shall instruct the Leader / Cabinet to prepare and recommend a draft policy or strategy, or a draft amended policy or strategy, setting out the issues to be covered by the new policy or strategy, or the broad manner in which the Council wishes to amend the plan or strategy, and any matters which the Council would wish the Leader / Cabinet to take into account in preparing a draft, or draft amended, policy or strategy, including any urgency, and stating whether the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy shall be referred on receipt to a particular Overview and Scrutiny Committee.
- 2.4 Upon receipt of such instruction, the Leader / Cabinet shall prepare a draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy in response to such instruction and shall submit it to Council.
- 2.5 In preparing such draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, the Leader / Cabinet may undertake such consultation with partner organisations and with the public as it considers to be appropriate.
- 2.6 Where the Council has resolved that the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, shall be referred to a particular Overview and Scrutiny Committee, the Chief Executive shall report the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy to that Committee, and that Committee shall then consider the same and prepare a recommendation to Council subject to Rule 2.7 below. In such consideration, the Committee may undertake such consultation as it considers appropriate, having regard to any consultation previously undertaken by the Leader / Cabinet.
- 2.7 Where such recommendation to Council is that the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, should be adopted as proposed by the Leader / Cabinet, that

recommendation shall proceed directly to Council. Where such recommendation is that the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy should be adopted subject to any amendment, that recommendation shall be reported by the Chief Executive to the Leader / Cabinet and shall be deemed to be a resolution that Council proposes to adopt the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, subject to an amendment.

- 2.8 Where Council receives a recommendation from an Overview and Scrutiny Committee as set out in Rule 2.7 above, the Chief Executive shall report to Council the Leader / Cabinet's original proposal, the Overview and Scrutiny Committee's recommendation and the Leader / Cabinet's response to that recommendation.
- 2.9 Council shall then consider the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, together with any recommendation and response. The Council may take one of the following steps:
- (a) If Council wishes to adopt the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy as originally recommended by Leader / Cabinet, without amendment, it may do so forthwith
 - (b) If Council wishes to adopt the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, subject to any of the amendments recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it may do so forthwith after consideration of the Leader / Cabinet's response thereto
 - (c) If Council wishes to adopt the draft plan or strategy, or draft amended plan or strategy, subject to any amendment which was not recommended by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee, it shall resolve accordingly "in principle", and the Chief Executive shall forthwith notify the Leader and all Members of the Cabinet of that resolution together with the legal and financial implications of the resolution. The Leader may submit to the Chief Executive the Leader / Cabinet's response to the proposed amendment and the following options take effect:
 - (i) If such response is received within 5 working days of such notification, or such longer period as Council may resolve, the Chief Executive shall report the response to the next convenient meeting of Council and the "in principle" resolution shall not take effect
 - (ii) Where no such response is received within the set period, the "in principle" resolution shall take full effect at the expiry of that set period, unless there are significant legal and financial implications, in which case the Chief Executive shall make a report including those implications to the Council for its next convenient meeting
- 2.10 Where a particular plan or strategy is required by statute to be subject to consultation, examination in public, or submitted to the Secretary of State for approval, this procedure shall apply in respect of the approval of the plan or strategy at each such stage.
- 3. Process for Setting the Budget**
- 3.1 For each municipal year, the Leader / Cabinet shall prepare a draft Budget for the authority and shall submit it to the Chief Executive for report to Council for approval.

- 3.2 In preparing such draft Budget, the Leader / Cabinet may undertake such consultation with partner organisations and with the public as it considers to be appropriate or required by law.
- 3.3 The Leader / Cabinet shall refer the draft Budget to the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee or Committees, in which case the Chief Executive shall report the draft Budget to that Committee or Committees, and that Committee shall then consider the same and prepare a recommendation to Leader / Cabinet. In such consideration, the Committee may undertake such consultation as it considers appropriate, having regard to any consultation previously undertaken by the Leader / Cabinet.
- 3.4 If Council wishes to adopt the draft Budget as recommended by Leader / Cabinet, without amendment, it may do so forthwith.
- 3.5 In reaching a decision, the Council may adopt the Leader / Cabinet's proposals, but if the Council has any objections to the Leader / Cabinet's proposals, then before it amends, approves or adopts any plan, strategy or Budget, it must inform the Leader of those objections and require the Leader / Cabinet to reconsider. The Leader / Cabinet may, within such reasonable period as the Monitoring Officer may determine (but which shall be not less than 5 working days) submit revised proposals or inform the Council of the Leader / Cabinet's disagreement with the Council's objections and the reasons for this. Once that period has expired, the Council in amending, approving or adopting any plan, strategy or Budget, must take into account any revised proposals and the views of the Leader / Cabinet.
- 3.6 In the case of Budget proposals submitted to the Council after 8 February in the preceding financial year, or any Budget proposals submitted following designation or nomination by the Secretary of State, the Council may amend, approve or adopt the Leader / Cabinet's proposals without requiring the Leader / Cabinet to reconsider them.
- 3.7 In approving the Budget and Policy Framework, the Council will also specify the extent of in-year changes to the Policy Framework which may be undertaken by the Leader / Cabinet, in accordance with paragraph 7 of these Rules (in-year adjustments). The extent of virement within the approved Budget is set out in the financial regulations in Chapter 9 of this Constitution. Any other changes to the policy and Budgetary framework are reserved to the Council.

4. Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework

- 4.1 Subject to Rule 5 below, the Leader / Cabinet, Committees of the Cabinet, individual Cabinet Members or any Officers, Area Committees or Joint Committees discharging Executive functions may only take Executive decisions to the extent that they are not contrary to the Policy Framework or the Budget. If any of these bodies or persons wishes to make a decision which is contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by the Council, then that decision shall be a "Departure Decision" and may only be taken by the Council. Note that such Departure Decisions must be taken by Council and cannot be delegated to any other person or body.
- 4.2 If the Leader / Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual Member of the Cabinet or any Officer, any Area Committee or Joint Committee wants to make an executive decision and apprehends that it may be contrary to the Policy Framework or contrary to, or

not wholly in accordance with the Budget (and thus to constitute a "Departure Decision"), they shall take advice from the Monitoring Officer and/or the Chief Executive and/or the Chief Finance Officer as to whether the decision they want to make would be contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget. If the advice of any of those Officers is that the decision would be contrary to the Policy Framework, or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget, then the decision-taker may take an "in principle" decision but must refer the matter as a recommendation or as an "in principle" decision to the Council for decision, unless the decision is a matter of urgency, in which case the provisions in Rule 5 shall apply.

5. Urgent Decisions outside the Budget or Policy Framework

- 5.1 Notwithstanding Rule 4 above, the Leader / Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual Member of the Cabinet, an Officer, an Area Committee or a Joint Committee, who or which is exercising Executive functions may take a decision which is contrary to the Council's Policy Framework or contrary to or not wholly in accordance with the Budget approved by full Council, if the decision is a matter of urgency. A decision will be urgent if any delay involved in convening a quorate meeting of the full Council within the Access to Information Rules to take the decision would or would be likely to seriously prejudice the Council's or the public interests.
- 5.2 The Chair of the relevant Overview and Scrutiny Committee must agree in writing that the decision be taken as a matter of urgency before it may be taken. In the absence or inability to act of the Chair, the consent of the Mayor, or in his or her absence or inability to act, the Deputy Mayor, shall suffice. The reasons why it is not practical to convene a quorate meeting of Council and the consent to the decision being taken as a matter of urgency must be noted on the record of the decision.
- 5.3 Following the decision, the decision taker will provide a full report to the next available Council meeting explaining the decision, the reasons for it and why the decision was treated as a matter of urgency.

6. Financial Regulations and Budget Management

- 6.1 The Council's Financial Regulations are included in Chapter 9 of this Constitution. The Council has approved a Budget management scheme that is included in that Chapter. The Budget management scheme lists the Rules for managing the capital and revenue Budget. This includes limits on virement between capital projects and cash limits.
- 6.2 Steps taken by the Leader / Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual Member of the Cabinet, or Officers discharging Executive Functions to implement Council policy will not exceed those Budgets allocated to each cash limit. However, such bodies or individuals will be entitled to vire across cash limits and capital projects as set out in the Budget management scheme. Exceeding those limits will require the approval of the full Council.

7. In-Year Changes to the Budget and Policy Framework

- 7.1 The responsibility for agreeing the Budget and Policy Framework lies with the Council, and decisions by the Leader / Cabinet, a Committee of the Cabinet, an individual Member of the Cabinet or Officers discharging Executive Functions must be in line with it. No

changes to any policy and strategy that make up the Budget and Policy Framework may be made by those bodies or individuals except those changes:

- (a) which will result in the closure or discontinuance of a service or part of a service to meet a Budgetary constraint
- (b) which are necessary to ensure compliance with the law, ministerial direction or government guidance
- (c) in relation to the Policy Framework in respect of a policy, when the framework would normally be agreed annually by the Council following consultation, but where the existing policy document is silent on the matter under consideration.

Part 4 – Functions which the Leader has allocated to the Cabinet, Cabinet Committees or Individual Cabinet Members

By the Local Government Act 2000 as amended, the Leader may discharge any Executive Functions in person and may make overall arrangements for the discharge of all Executive Functions, or may make arrangements for the discharge of any of those functions by the Cabinet, by a Committee of the Cabinet, by another Cabinet Member or by an Officer. This Part of the Constitution sets out the arrangements which the Leader has made for the discharge of Executive Functions by the Leader / Cabinet and by individual Cabinet Members.

1. The Leader / Cabinet

1.1 The following functions shall be discharged by the Leader / Cabinet:

- (a) All "Key Decisions"
- (b) All Executive Functions which have not been delegated to a Cabinet Committee, a Cabinet Member, an Officer, an Area Committee, a Joint Committee or another local authority
- (c) Any Executive Function which has been delegated to a Cabinet Committee, and Cabinet Member, or an Officer, where the person or body to whom the decision is delegated refers the matter back to the Cabinet for determination
- (d) To approve all virements between Cost Centres and/or Budget Heads or within the Capital programme where the sum to be vired exceeds £500,000
- (e) "Local Choice Functions" - These are functions where the Council has a discretion as to whether the function should be discharged by the Council or by the Leader / Cabinet and has determined that they shall be discharged by the Leader / Cabinet. The functions concerned are as follows:
 - (i) Any function under a local Act other than:
 - a function specified or referred to in Regulation 2 or Schedule 1 (of the Local Authorities (Functions and Responsibilities) (England) Regulations 2000)
 - Part VI of the Essex Act 1987 and in relation to the making of byelaws under the Act
 - (ii) The appointment of review boards under regulations under subsection (4) of section 34 (determination of claims and reviews) of the Social Security Act 1998
 - (iii) The making of arrangements pursuant to section 52 of the Education Act 2002 and Regulation 6 of the Education (Pupil Exclusion and Appeal) (Maintained Schools) (England) Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/3178)

- (iv) The making of arrangements pursuant to section 94(1) and (4) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (admission appeals) and the Education (Admissions Appeals Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/2899)
- (v) The making of arrangements pursuant to section 95(2) of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998 (children to whom section 87 applies: appeals by governing bodies) and Schedule 2, paragraph 2, Education (Admissions Appeals Arrangements) (England) Regulations 2002 (SI 2002/2189)
- (vi) The making of appointments under paragraphs 2 to 4 (appointment of Members by relevant Councils) of Schedule 2 (police authorities established under section 3) to the Police Act 1996
- (vii) Any function relating to contaminated land
- (viii) The discharge of any function relating to the control of pollution or the management of air quality
- (ix) The service of an abatement notice in respect of a statutory nuisance
- (x) The passing of a resolution that Schedule 2 to the Noise and Statutory Nuisance Act 1993 should apply in the authority's area
- (xi) The inspection of the Authority's area to detect any statutory nuisance
- (xii) The investigation of any complaint as to the existence of a statutory nuisance
- (xiii) The obtaining of information under section 330 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 as to interests in land insofar as it relates to the Cabinet's other functions
- (xiv) The obtaining of particulars of persons interested in land under section 16 of the Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976 insofar as it relates to the Cabinet's other functions
- (xv) The making of agreements for the execution of highways works.
- (xvi) Except insofar as is specifically reserved to the Council by resolution of the Council, the appointment of any individual:
 - to any office other than an office in which he is employed by the Authority
 - to any body other than:
 - the Authority
 - a Joint Committee of two or more authorities

- to any Committee or Sub-Committee of such a body, and the revocation of any such appointment
- (xvii) The making of agreements with other local authorities for the placing of staff at the disposal of those other authorities
- (xviii) Any function of the Authority in its capacity as a harbour authority.
- (f) All functions under the Scrap Metal Dealers Act 2013, insofar as they cannot be undertaken by:
 - (i) The Scrap Metal Dealers Act Panel (comprising the Cabinet Member for Public Protection and two senior officers from Public Protection), which has been established by the Leader to determine any applications referred to them by the Principal Licensing Officer.
 - (ii) The Principal Licensing Officer, who has been delegated authority by the Leader to determine applications where there are no questions about the suitability of an applicant, or, where the suitability of an applicant is in question but they have not given the prescribed notice to the Council that they require the opportunity to make representations.

2. Individual Cabinet Members

- 2.1 Under the Local Government Act 2000 as amended, the Leader has allocated a "Portfolio" to each Cabinet Member and delegated to each "Portfolio Holder" responsibility for the discharge of the functions specified below. The powers delegated to individual Cabinet Members specifically exclude "Key Decisions" and "Local Choice Functions" which have been allocated to the Cabinet.
- 2.2 Enhanced Disclosure and Barring Service (DBS) checks are carried out for all relevant Cabinet Members discharging education or social services functions. These checks will be carried out strictly in line with the Council DBS policy and any current eligibility guidance from a relevant DBS agency.

3. Leader and Cabinet Member for Strategic Relationships, Reputation, and Influence

- 3.1 Portfolio:
- (a) South Essex Councils (SEC)
 - (b) Opportunity South Essex (OSE)
 - (c) Thames Estuary Growth Board (TEGB)
 - (d) Thames Freeport
 - (e) South Essex Growth Partnership
 - (f) Thurrock Business Board

- (g) Greater Essex Devolution
- (h) Local Government Association (LGA)
- (i) Government Relations
- (j) Commissioner Relations
- (k) Policy Development

3.2 Delegated Powers:

Urgent Decisions

- (a) By virtue of section 15(9) of the Local Government Act 2000, the Leader may exercise any Executive Function which has been delegated to the Cabinet or to an individual Cabinet Member or to an Officer.
- (b) By convention, the Leader will only exercise such powers where:
 - (i) Deferring the decision until the next meeting of Cabinet would carry such unreasonable risk of damage to the authority or its area that it would be unreasonable to defer the decision until the next meeting of Cabinet
 - (ii) An Officer possessing a delegated power has referred the matter to the Leader for determination
 - (iii) In any case, the Leader has consulted the Deputy Leader and the relevant Cabinet Member(s).

Consultations

- (c) Approving the authority's response to consultation from neighbouring authorities, regulatory agencies, Government Departments and other bodies.

Personnel and Human Resource Policies

- (d) To approve personnel and human resources policies and strategies in so far as they are Executive Functions.
- (e) To determine the staffing requirements for the proper discharge of Executive Functions.

Finance

- (f) To approve the writing off of debts in cases where an Officer has no delegated power to do so.
- (g) To approve virement between Cost Centres and/or Budget Heads or within the Capital Programme (all such virements and transfers in excess of £500,000 by convention being referred to Cabinet for determination).

Land and Property

- (h) Approving minor departures from the authority's Asset Management Plan.
- (i) Approving the acquisition or disposal of land or property up to the value of £200,000, on advice from the Monitoring Officer and the Section 151 Officer, and in consultation with the Corporate Property Officer (who for this purpose is the Corporate Director Resources and Place Delivery), and ward members. Any decision relating to the acquisition or disposal of land or property above £200,000 be taken by the Cabinet.

Communications and the Media

- (j) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio or which are of particular importance to the authority.

4. Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Change and Improvement

4.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Change Management
- (b) Vision and Strategy
- (c) Communications (including Branding)
- (d) Corporate Wide Performance
- (e) Governance
- (f) Legal, Democratic, Electoral and Member Services
- (g) Information Governance
- (h) Customer and Digital Strategy
- (i) Registrars

4.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) As Deputy Leader, to exercise the Portfolio functions of the Leader when he/she is absent or otherwise unable to act
- (c) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio.

5. Cabinet Member for Children's Services and Education

5.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Apprenticeships
- (b) Children's Commissioning
- (c) Children's Social Care
- (d) Early Offer to Help and Children's Centres
- (e) Educational Attainment and School Improvement
- (f) Grangewaters Outdoor Education
- (g) Lifelong Learning
- (h) Schools and Nurseries
- (i) Careers Information Advice and Guidance
- (j) Work Readiness
- (k) Youth Offer

5.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination except in the case of functions under sections 18 and 19 of the Children's Act 2004.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio.
- (c) To make any appointments on behalf of the authority to governing bodies of schools and educational institutions.

6. Cabinet Member for Health and Wellbeing

6.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Adult Services In-house Provision
- (b) Adult Services Performance Framework
- (c) Better Care Fund
- (d) Development of integration with the NHS
- (e) External Placement for Adult Services
- (f) Improvements in quality Primary Care
- (g) Learning Disabilities
- (h) Liaison with Thurrock Healthwatch

- (i) Liaison with Thurrock Mid and South Essex (MSE) Integrated Care System (ICS)
- (j) Member of Health and Well-Being Board
- (k) Older People's Services
- (l) Oversight of Development and Implementation of new Integrated Care Model
- (m) Oversight of Statutory Duties under the Care Act 2014
- (n) People with Physical Disabilities
- (o) Safeguarding Adults Board
- (p) Welfare Benefits Reform
- (q) Mental Health
- (r) Lead for Public Health
- (s) Oversight of Public Health Commissioning Responsibilities, including drugs and alcohol, sexual health, child health, obesity and smoking cessation
- (t) Homelessness
- (u) Housing Maintenance
- (v) Private Sector Liaison
- (w) Repairs and Maintenance Contracts
- (x) Sheltered Housing
- (y) Transforming Homes Programme

6.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio.

7. Cabinet Member for Community Partnerships

7.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Community Engagement Strategy
- (b) Third Sector Development
- (c) Libraries

- (d) Community Capacity Building
- (e) Community Hubs Strategy
- (f) Localisation of Services – Operating Model

7.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio.

8. Cabinet Member for Good Growth

8.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Economic Development and Regeneration
- (b) Thurrock Regeneration Limited (TRL)
- (c) Housing Development
- (d) Council-run Traveller Sites
- (e) Skills
- (f) Planning
- (g) Strategic Planning
- (h) Building Control
- (i) Development Management – Planning
- (j) Transportation Development
- (k) Investor Relationships
- (l) Economic Partnerships

8.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio
- (c) To promote active, constructive and effective engagement in strategic planning including cooperation across administrative boundaries with meetings, seminars and communications, topic papers research and analysis with proper

collaboration coordination, and in association with the Leader the signing of position statements and memorandums of understanding with, and the making of formal representations to, other persons prescribed under Section 33A(1) of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 as amended

9. Cabinet Member for Place and the Environment

9.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Street Services – Street Sweeping, Grass Cutting, Litter Pickers, Maintenance of the Borough
- (b) Waste and Recycling – Refuse Collection
- (c) Sports and Leisure Development – Current Assets
- (d) Sports and Leisure Development – Vision
- (e) Air Quality
- (f) Highways Development Control – Parking Enforcement, Street Lights and Traffic Management
- (g) Maintenance of Roads – Potholes
- (h) Network Management
- (i) Public Transport
- (j) Arts, Culture and Heritage – including Thameside Theatre
- (k) Public Protection
- (l) Trading Standards
- (m) Food Safety
- (n) Environmental Health – including noise control, and so on
- (o) Licencing
- (p) Environmental Enforcement – including fly-tipping, and so on
- (q) Community Safety Partnership
- (r) Emergency Planning
- (s) Health and Safety
- (t) Unauthorised Traveller Incursions
- (u) Anti-Social Behaviour
- (v) Community Partnership – Police

9.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio

10. Cabinet Member for Resources

10.1 Portfolio:

- (a) Human Resources, Organisational Development and Payroll
- (b) Information Technology (IT)
- (c) Pay Policy
- (d) Counter Fraud
- (e) National Investigation Service (NATIS)
- (f) Finance (Corporate and Directorate)
- (g) Commercial Opportunities / Fees and Charges
- (h) Treasury Management
- (i) Insurance and Risk Management
- (j) Internal Audit
- (k) Overall Budget Responsibility for Revenue and Capital Programme
- (l) Medium-term Financial Strategy (MTFS)
- (m) Procurement and Contract Management
- (n) Revenues and Benefits
- (o) Assets Disposals
- (p) Disinvestments
- (q) Property and Facilities Management

10.2 Delegated Powers:

- (a) To take any decision within this Portfolio where that decision was within powers delegated to an Officer but that Officer has referred the matter to the Portfolio Holder for determination.
- (b) To approve press releases and statements in relation to his/her Portfolio